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RETAIL TRADE IN CALCUTTA

Offshoot from the land of shopkeepers

by   CHRISTINE   FUREDY
T
HE foundations of the modern retail trade of Calcutta were laid by British tradesmen who established businesses primarily to serve the needs of the European population of Bengal from the late 18th century. From a miscellany of small shops and services grew a complex retail sector which made Calcutta the centre of 'modern' retail trade in India, for Calcutta's sector was larger and more diversified than those of other urban areas such as Bombay and Madras. From Cal​cutta retail trading relationships can be traced in the 19th century through​out the towns, cantonments, hill sta​tions and plantations and even beyond India to towns and cities in China, East and North Africa and South East Asia.
Some of Calcutta's famous early retail firms still persist although most have vanished. Nevertheless, several aspects of Calcutta's retail sector today can only be understood in the light of its colonial development.
The early tradesmen came to pro​vide goods and services to 'servants' of the East India Company and, until 1830, the Company controlled the entry of non-official tradesmen through a bond system. Permission to trade was granted only upon the placing of a bond and riling respectable references with the Company in London. These early tradesmen were a varied lot: predominantly skilled craftsmen whose services were required by the military and the traders but they also included those who settled down to trade in Calcutta after a period of adventuring.
Others started as apprentices or assistants to early tradesmen and pro​gressed to set up their own shops and firms. William Francis, proprietor of Francis & Co., for instance, started out as a cutter with Ranking Co. They were not exclusively British: Jewish, Armenian, Portuguese and French names are found in the early trade directories. Later the Italian, Peletti, who founded the famous rest​aurant, became a well-known and flamboyant figure in Calcutta.
By 1830 Calcutta housed about 250 retail proprietors and independent craftsmen. Among them we can dis​tinguish retailers proper, producer-retailers or artisan-retailers (jewellers like Hamilton & Co., booksellers and publishers like William Thacker & Co., coach-builders like Stuart and Co., boot and saddle makers like Monteith &Co., cabinet-makers like Currie and Co., and establishments providing vari​ous services such as hotel-keepers, undertakers, stablekeepers and che​mists. All of these shared some basic characteristics: they imported most of their goods or materials from Britain or Europe; they served an elite clientele; they employed skilled Indian craftsmen at low wages; they were organized as single proprietary or partnership companies, and they extended long credit to their customers. This last feature was a source of great trouble to the retail firms as many of their 'elite' customers were none too prompt in settling accounts.
The extravagance of their clientele was the main factor in the formation of the Calcutta Trades Association in 1830: the shopkeepers hoped by co​operation to keep the credit system under control and to protect themselves from bad debts. The association, the first commercial organization in India, developed to play a much larger role in the city's affairs, taking a very close interest in municipal decisions and conditions of trade in Bengal.
For most of the 19th century the most prestigious shopping streets of Calcutta were Old Court House Street and Esplanade Row. Here were to be found Hamilton’s, Cooke & Kelvey, Dykes & Co., (coachbuilders), Bathgate & Co. (chemists), and Rankins. But by 1860 the new development was southwards along Bentinck Street and Chowringhee, spreading into Park Street by the 1870s. In some cases old established businesses built branches in the new district, as when Bathgate and Co. opened a branch off Park Street where the building can still be recognized today. Several decades later the area was transformed by the massive complex of Hall and Ander​son's.
Very often the retailers' shops com​bined factory, workshop, shipping rooms and retail shop, with residential flats above for the proprietor. The assistants frequently roomed together in ''chummeries" along Sudder Street, Free School Street and Middleton Row.
What were the characteristics which made for success in the increasingly competitive and volatile business en​vironment of 19th century colonial Calcutta? If we look at the premier firms at the end of the century we find some which had established solid reputations well before 1850: shops such as Hamiltons the jewellers and T.E. Thomson the hardware merchants. But there are an equal number of meteoric latecomers such as Morrison and Cottle (established 1884) and Frank Ross and Co.
More important than initial ad​vantage was the ability to secure large and stable government contracts and orders from the princes. Thus we find that Rankins designed and made uniforms for the Indian Army and were robemakers to the British royal family for Indian visits while Cooke & Kelvey specialized in station and office clocks, and Kellner & Co. were official caterers for durbars and state occasions of all kinds. The premier firms, in addition to their governmental and princely contracts, also had orders to supply the clubs, corporations and plantations of British India. Kellner and Co. supplied many plantations with groceries and wines while many a game of billiards was played on the tables of Lazarus and Co. in the clubs and residences of the Raj.
Contracts were gained and held by high quality goods and reliable services. Above all, the successful firms were headed by enterprising and usually highly skilled tradesmen who were able to adapt the methods and institutions of shopkeeping from Europe to the quite different needs of scattered colonial client groups. The stolid, gloomy and often dusty premises of the Calcutta shops belied the size and spread of their trade.
They were pre-eminently long distance traders, negotiating for their supplies from European suppliers and despatching a staggering number of orders out to the 'mofussil. They benefited greatly from the development of railways in India, eagerly embracing the Value Payable Post, so that by the 1890s half the entire VPP transactions of India were initiated in Bengal and 90 per cent of these went out from Calcutta, predominantly from the retail firms. To stimulate this trade all the leading shops produced thick and elaborately illustrated catalogues, which were eagerly awaited by lonely mem-sahibs in themofussil and hill stations.
The leading firms also advertised widely in the English-language news​papers and in the pages of Capital— after its establishment in 1888. From these old papers we can gain a very good idea of the goods and services offered by the shops. Thus the success​ful firms expanded their trade, while retaining an exclusiveness based on high quality, highly prized goods and personalized services.
By the late 19th century many of the elite firms were reaching out for Indian middle class customers: in 1874 John Davis and Co., drapers, adver​tised "cheap, strong, England-made patent leather shoes for native gentle​men and boys" while Lazarus and Co. hoped to introduce the "Indian public" to the British mattress. But the shops were very expensive and their atmosphere decidedly snobbish; few but the well-to-do transferred their patro​nage from the bazaar or the develop​ing Indian modern retail firms to the elite Calcutta shops.

The existence of a thriving bazaar retail sector in Calcutta which, by the second half of the century had gained access to many of the prized European manufactured goods, had its effects upon the elite stratum. As one shrewd observer noted in the 1840s: "Even in the streets where Europeans are numerous there are many native dealers. They are very content with a small profit and can live comfortably a whole year on a sum which would not support the Europe shopkeepers more than a few days."
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